LABOR AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

CITY OF COHASSET

AND

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO COUNCIL #65 LOCAL NO. 498

January 1, 2016 - December 31, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	3
ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS	4
ARTICLE 4 – UNION SECURITY	4
ARTICLE 5 – SENIORITY	5
ARTICLE 6 – LAYOFF AND RECALL	6
ARTICLE 7 – PROBATIONARY PERIOD	6
ARTICLE 8 – VACANCIES	7
ARTICLÉ 9 – DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE 10 – MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	8
ARTICLE 11 – NORMAL WORKING HOURS AND PREMIUM PAY	8
ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS	10
ARTICLE 13 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	11
ARTICLE 14 – VACATION	13
ARTICLE 15 – SICK LEAVE	14
ARTICLE 16 – INSURANCE BENEFITS	15
ARTICLE 17 – LEAVES OF ABSENCE	16
ARTICLE 18 – SEVERANCE	16
ARTICLE 19 – SAFETY	17
ARTICLE 20 – COMPLETE AGREEMENT, SEPARABILITY	17
ARTICLE 21 – ALLOWANCES	18
ARTICLE 22 – WAGES	18
ARTICLE 23 – TERM OF AGREEMENT	10

LABOR AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF COHASSET

AND

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES AFL-CIO, COUNCIL #65

ARTICLE 1 – PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

- 1.1 This Agreement is entered into between the City of Cohasset (hereinafter called the "Employer"), and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, Council No. 65, Local No. 498 (hereinafter called the "Union"), as exclusive representative for the employees covered by this Agreement (hereinafter called the "Union").
- 1.2 It is the intent and purpose of this Agreement:

To assure sound and mutually beneficial working and economic relationships between the parties hereto.

To establish procedures for the resolution of disputes concerning this Agreement's interpretation and/or application.

To place in written form the parties' agreement upon terms and conditions of employment for the duration of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

2.1 <u>Recognition.</u> The Employer recognizes AFSCME Minnesota Council 65 as the exclusive representative of the following unit:

All employees of the City of Cohasset, Minnesota, who are public employees within the meaning of Minn. Stat. 179A.03, subd. 14, excluding supervisory, confidential and essential employees.

- 2.2 New Job Class. In the event the Employer and the Union are unable to agree as to the inclusion or exclusion of a new or modified job class, the issue shall be submitted to the Bureau of Mediation Services for determination.
- 2.3 <u>Union Sole Representative.</u> The Employer shall not enter into any agreements covering terms and conditions of employment with the employees of the bargaining unit under the jurisdiction of this Agreement, either individually or collectively, which in any way conflicts with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, except through the certified representative.

ARTICLE 3 – DEFINITIONS

The words defined in this Article shall have the meaning indicated herein for purposes of this Agreement, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

- 3.1 <u>Employee.</u> A member of the recognized bargaining unit.
- 3.2 <u>Employer.</u> The City of Cohasset.
- 3.3 <u>Full-time Employee.</u> Any employee hired to fill a position on the bargaining unit based on a normal forty (40) hour workweek.
- 3.4 <u>Part-time Employee.</u> Any employee hired to fill a position in the bargaining unit based on a normal workweek of less than forty (40) hours.
- 3.5 Payday. Employees shall be paid every two (2) weeks. There is a one (1) week hold back of wages.
- 3.6 <u>Union.</u> The American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, Council No. 65, Local 498.
- 3.7 <u>Workweek.</u> The workweek shall begin at 12:01 a.m. Sunday and continue through 12:00 midnight Saturday.

ARTICLE 4 – UNION SECURITY

4.1 <u>Dues Deduction</u>. In recognition of the Union as exclusive representative, the Employer shall deduct an amount each pay period sufficient to provide the payment of regular dues and/or other employee approved deductions, established by the Union from the wages of all employees authorizing, in writing, such deduction on a form mutually agreed upon by the Employer and Union; and the deduction of dues shall commence thirty (30) working days after initial employment with the Employer.

The Employer shall remit such deductions to AFSCME Council 65 Administrative Office (118 Central Avenue, Nashwauk, MN 55769) with a list of the names of the employees from whose wages deductions were made, along with other pertinent employee information which may be legally released by the Employer and is necessary for the collection and administration of Union dues, preferably in an Excel formatted report that may be transmitted electronically or by U.S. mail.

The Union shall provide the formula or schedule (if applicable) to the Employer to calculate the actual dues deduction and will provide a spreadsheet that can be used to calculate the actual dues, along with any set amount for local assessments, in an electronic Excel format or via U.S. mail.

The Union may collect a fair share fee from bargaining unit employees who choose not to become members of the Union; provided that the collection of such fees, and the amount of such fees as determined by the Union, shall be accomplished in accordance with the applicable provisions of Minnesota Statutes Section 179A.06, Subdivision 3.

The Union agrees to indemnify and hold the Employer harmless against any and all claims, suits, orders or judgments brought or issued against the Employer as a result of any action taken or not taken by the Employer under the provisions of this Article.

- 4.2 <u>Stewards.</u> The Union may designate an Employee from the bargaining unit to act as a steward. The Union shall keep the Employer advised in writing of the name of the current steward.
- 4.3 <u>Bulletin Board.</u> The Employer shall make space available on a bulletin board for the posting of official Union notices and announcements. No material shall be posted on the bulletin board which is derogatory to the Employer, its management or facilities, or derogatory to individuals either expressly or by implication. The Employer reserves the right to remove any material that is inconsistent with this paragraph and shall promptly advise the Business Representative or steward if the Employer has removed material.
- 4.4 <u>Rights and Obligations of Stewards</u>. The Steward shall not do Union work at his/her work station and shall not leave his/her work station for Union business without permission of the Steward's designated supervisor. The Steward shall notify the designated supervisor upon return to the work station. The Supervisor's permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. Permission to leave a work station for Union business without loss of pay will be limited to grievance and disciplinary meetings with the Employer.

ARTICLE 5 – SENIORITY

- 5.1 <u>Seniority</u>. Seniority shall be based on the last date of hire with the Employer (or its predecessor). Seniority shall be by classification within a department. When an employee has been certified by the Employer as having successfully completed the probationary period, the employee shall be entered on the seniority list of the department in the employee's classification and the employee's date of seniority shall be the employee's most recent date of hire.
- 5.2 <u>Seniority List.</u> The seniority list shall show the name and classification of all employees of the department entitled to seniority.

The Employer shall post the seniority list annually in January of each year. An employee who disagrees with the contents of the seniority list shall have ten (10) days after posting of the seniority list in which to file a grievance or be barred from challenging the seniority list thereafter.

- 5.3 <u>Loss of Seniority.</u> An employee shall lose seniority for the following reasons only:
 - a. The employee resigns;

- b. The employee is discharged for cause;
- c. The employee fails to return to work at the time recalled from layoff;
- d. The employee fails to return to work upon expiration of an approved leave of absence.

ARTICLE 6 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

6.1 Order of Layoff. When a reduction in the workforce occurs, the least senior employee in the affected classification in the affected department shall be laid off first. Prior to laying off full-time or part-time employees in the affected classification, the Employer shall first lay off temporary, seasonal and probationary employees in the affected classification.

Provided, however, the Employer may retain a less senior employee and lay off a more senior employee if the more senior employee is not qualified to perform available work.

- 6.2 <u>Layoff Notice</u>. Employees shall be given a notice of 14 calendar days before being laid off where reasonably practical.
- 6.3. <u>Seniority on Layoff</u>. An employee will retain seniority but will not earn additional seniority while on layoff status.
- Recall Period. Employees who are laid off shall be placed on a recall list for a period of one (1) year. If there is a recall within a classification in a department, employees who are still on the recall list whose recall rights have not expired shall be recalled, in the inverse order of their layoff from the affected classification in the affected department. The Employer shall not hire new employees in the bargaining unit positions as long as there are still employees on the recall list whose recall rights have not expired who have been laid off from the affected classification and who are presently qualified to perform the work in the affected job classification and who are willing to be recalled to said classification.
- 6.5 Recall Notice. Employees who are eligible for recall shall be given seven (7) calendar days notice of recall and notice of recall shall be sent to the employee by certified and regular first class mail with a copy to the Union. The employee must notify the Employer in writing of his/her intention to return within five (5) calendar days after the notice of recall is mailed to the employee. The employee must be willing to report and to return to work within ten (10) calendar days following mailing of the notice of recall. The Employer shall be deemed to have fulfilled its obligations by mailing the recall notice by registered mail, return receipt requested, to the mailing address provided by the employee. It is the obligation and responsibility of the employee to provide the employer with his/her latest mailing address.

ARTICLE 7 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD

7.1 <u>Probationary Period.</u> Newly hired employees shall serve an initial probationary period of up to six (6) consecutive months worked. An employee's probationary period may be extended for an additional period of time not to exceed six (6) months upon a mutual agreement of the

Employer and the Union. During the probationary period, the Employer may discipline or discharge the employee with or without cause and the employee shall not have recourse to the grievance procedure nor shall the discipline or discharge be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement.

Upon completion of probationary period, new or rehired employees shall be credited with seniority dating from the employee's most recent date of hire to a full-time or part-time, non-temporary position with the Employer.

7.2 <u>Probationary Period Benefits.</u> During the initial probationary period, an employee shall earn and may use vacation and sick leave but if the employee does not successfully complete the probationary period, the related pay shall be reimbursed to the City by the employee or subtracted from the employee's final paycheck.

ARTICLE 8 – VACANCIES

- 8.1 <u>Posting.</u> At such time as the Employer determines that a vacancy is to be filled, the vacancy shall be posted for a period of five (5) days.
- 8.2 <u>Selection</u>. The Employer is committed to selecting the applicant who, in the Employer's judgment, is best qualified to fill the vacancy.

ARTICLE 9 – DISCIPLINE

- 9.1 <u>Just Cause</u>. The Employer will discipline employees for just cause only. In most cases discipline will be progressive; however, discipline at a higher level may be imposed. Discipline will be in one or more of the following forms:
 - a. Oral reprimand;
 - b. Written reprimand;
 - c. Suspension without pay;
 - d. Demotion
 - e. Discharge.
- 9.2 <u>Acknowledgment.</u> All documentation of discipline is to become a part of an employee's personnel file and shall be read and acknowledged by signature of the employee. Any employee who refuses to so acknowledge receipt shall be subject to disciplinary action. The affected employee retains the right to enter a written comment on the disciplinary document indicating whether he/she agrees with or disagrees with the disciplinary action and will receive a copy of any such discipline documentation.
- 9.3 <u>Examination of Personnel File.</u> Employees may examine their own individual personnel files at reasonable times, under the direct supervision of the Employer or its designee. The

employee shall not be entitled to review data which is protected from disclosure to the employee by the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act.

9.4 <u>Representation.</u> An employee shall have the right to request Union representation at any questioning of an employee concerning investigation for disciplinary action against the employee. It is the Union's responsibility to make representation available so that the Employer can continue to timely investigate the matter.

ARTICLE 10 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- Except as expressly modified or restricted by a specific provision of this Agreement, all statutory and inherent managerial rights, prerogatives and functions are retained and vested exclusively in the Employer, including but not limited to the rights to reprimand, suspend, discharge, or otherwise discipline employees; to determine the number of employees to be employed; to hire employees, determine their qualifications and assign and direct their work; to promote, demote, transfer, lay off and recall employees to work, to set the standards of productivity, the products to be produced and/or the services to be rendered, to determine the amount and forms of compensation for employees, to maintain the efficiency of operations; to determine the personnel, methods, means and facilities by which operations are conducted; to establish work schedules, set the starting and quitting times, and establish the number of hours and shifts to be worked; to establish work rules and regulations; to authorize overtime; to use independent contractors to perform work or services, to subcontract, or to contract out, except that if the use of independent contractors, subcontracting or contracting out causes a reduction of bargaining unit positions or hours, the Employer shall negotiate with the Union regarding the effects of subcontracting or contracting out; to expand, reduce, alter, combine, transfer, assign, or cease any job, department, operation or service; to control and regulate the use of machinery, facilities, equipment, and other property of the Employer; to introduce new or improved services, methods, materials, machinery and equipment; to determine the number, location and operation of departments of the Employer; to issue, amend, and revise policies, rules, regulations, and practices; and to take whatever action is either necessary or advisable to determine, manage and fulfill the mission of the Employer.
- 10.2 Any term and condition not specifically established or modified by this Agreement shall remain solely within the discretion of the Employer to continue, modify, establish, or eliminate.
- 10.3 The Employer's failure to exercise any right, prerogative or function does not preclude the Employer from starting to exercise any right, prerogative or function at any time during the term of this Agreement. The exercise by the Employer of any right, prerogative or function in a particular way does not preclude the Employer from changing the manner in which it exercises any right, prerogative, function or practice at any time during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - NORMAL WORKING HOURS AND PREMIUM PAY

- 11.1 <u>Work Hours.</u> The normal work week shall be forty (40) hours per week. The normal work day shall be eight (8) hours. The Employer retains the right to schedule the work day to meet the needs of the City.
 - a. Office Personnel: The normal hours for office personnel shall be 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m.

When the Employer and employee(s) desire a flex time schedule, they may by mutual agreement enter into a flex time schedule agreement specifying the terms and conditions of the flex time arrangement and the means of terminating the flex time arrangement at the option of either party. A flex time schedule shall be based on a 40-hour week. The flex time schedule agreement shall be in writing, signed by the Employer, the employee(s) and the Union if the flex time schedule exceeds two (2) work weeks in duration. A flex time schedule of two work weeks or less shall be in writing and signed by the employee and his or her supervisor.

b. <u>Public Works/Public Utilities:</u> The normal work day shall be 7:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. In case of weather-related need, the Employer may commence the work day early and end the work day up to two hours early for employees who have started work early or commence the work day up to two hours late.

The Employer and the Union may mutually agree to change the normal work day to ten (10) hours per day, four (4) days per week for the period from May 1 through October 1 each year. Either party may end the arrangement for four tenhour days upon ten (10) days' advance notice to the other party.

- 11.2 <u>Call Out for Emergencies or Meetings.</u> Call out for emergencies or after hour meetings occurring after the employee's shift has ended and employee has left the work site and before the beginning of the next regularly scheduled shift shall be compensated at a minimum of two (2) hours or actual hours worked, whichever is greater. The two-hour minimum shall not be paid for staying late or arriving early.
- 11.3 <u>Meal Breaks</u>. Each Employee shall be entitled to a thirty (30) minute unpaid daily meal break. The expectation is that meal breaks should be taken between 11 a.m. and 2 p.m., unless there is a workplace emergency.
- 11.4 <u>Rest Breaks.</u> Each employee shall be entitled to one (1) fifteen (15) minute paid rest break within every four (4) hours worked. Rest breaks shall be taken so as not to interfere with work requirements and will be taken at the work site.
- 11.5 Overtime. Hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times the regular hourly rate of the employee. All overtime worked shall be approved in advance by the Employer, except in an emergency. An employee who works overtime without approval of the Employer may be subject to discipline. Holidays, bereavement leave and vacation/sick leave hours shall count toward the calculation of overtime eligibility.

11.6 <u>Standby Pay.</u> An employee required to be on standby for a given work period shall be paid an additional \$3.75 per hour over the employee's regular straight time rate for each hour worked during the given work period in lieu of any other standby pay.

An employee on standby duty pay shall be reachable by telephone, beeper or pager when called. The employee shall be responsible to keep the Employer advised at all times of the number at which the employee can be reached. The employee shall carry a beeper or pager at all times if assigned to do so by the Employer. An employee who is on standby duty assignment must be "available and able to work" during the entire period of the standby duty assignment. "Available and able to work" means that the employee is able to commence work within fifteen (15) minutes of receipt of a call. "Available and able to work" also means that the employee shall not be under the influence of alcohol or mind altering drugs during the period the employee is assigned to standby duty. An employee who fails to respond to a call within the time limits set forth in this Section or who fails to report to duty promptly shall forfeit the standby duty pay for the standby duty shift and may be subject to additional disciplinary action.

An employee on standby duty who is called out to work shall be paid for actual hours worked but shall not be eligible for the two hour minimum pay for emergency call-outs under paragraph 11.2.

- 11.7 <u>Negotiation Pay.</u> Stewards shall be entitled to be compensated at the employee's regular straight time rate for participation in labor negotiations for a labor contract involving the overall terms and conditions of employment for the bargaining unit for a period of one or more years; provided however, that such negotiation pay shall be limited to two (2) Stewards and to four (4) two-hour negotiation sessions during normal work hours per such labor agreement.
- 11.8 <u>Volunteer Fire Fighters.</u> Employees who are also members of the City of Cohasset Volunteer Fire Department agree that overtime incurred in the service of the Fire Department shall be calculated based on the firefighter rate of pay.

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS

12.1 <u>Holiday Pay.</u> Each employee shall receive eight (8) hours of straight time pay for each of the below listed full holidays and four (4) hours of straight time pay for each of the below listed one-half day holidays.

An employee who is on unpaid leave of absence for any reason at the time of a designated holiday shall not be eligible to receive holiday pay.

When a holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the preceding Friday or following Monday shall be declared a holiday for employees whose normal schedule is Monday through Friday.

In any year that a holiday falls on a Tuesday, the preceding Monday shall be a holiday. Also, if a holiday falls on a Thursday, the following Friday shall be a holiday.

This section shall not be interpreted to grant any holiday where the result would be to grant three (3) or more holidays in succession for any given holiday sequence.

12.2 Holidays are defined as:

(1)	New Year's Day	January I
(2)	Martin Luther King Day	Third Monday in January
(3)	President's Day	Third Monday in February
(4)	Good Friday	Friday before Easter
(5)	Memorial Day	Last Monday in May
(6)	Independence Day	July 4
(7)	Labor Day	First Monday in September
(8)	Veterans Day	November 11
(9)	Thanksgiving Day	Fourth Thursday in November
(10)	Thanksgiving Friday	Fourth Friday in November
(11)	Christmas Eve Day	December 24
(1 <u>2</u>)	Christmas Day	December 25

12.3 <u>Holidays Worked.</u> An employee required to work on a designated holiday shall receive the overtime rate of pay in addition to holiday pay.

ARTICLE 13 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 13.1 <u>Definition of a Grievance</u>. A grievance is defined as a dispute or disagreement as to the interpretation or application of the specific terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 13.2 <u>Union Representative.</u> The Employer will recognize representatives designated by the Union as the grievance representatives of the bargaining unit having the duties and responsibilities established by this Article.
- 13.3 <u>Procedure.</u> Grievances, as defined by Section 13.1, shall be resolved in conformance with the following procedure:
 - Step 1. An employee claiming a violation concerning the interpretation or application of this Agreement shall, within fifteen (15) calendar days after such alleged violation has occurred, present such grievance to the employee's supervisor as designated by the Employer. The Employer-designated representative will discuss and give an answer to such Step 1 grievance within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt. A grievance not resolved in Step 1 and appealed to Step 2 shall be placed in writing, setting forth the nature of the grievance, the facts on which it is based, the provision or provisions of the Agreement allegedly violated, the remedy requested, and shall be appealed in writing to Step 2 within fifteen (15) calendar days after the Employer-designated representative's final answer in Step 1. Any grievance not appealed in writing to Step 2 by the Union within fifteen (15) calendar days shall be considered waived.

Step 2. If appealed, the written grievance shall be presented by the Union and discussed with the Employer-designated Step 2 representative, which is currently the Personnel Committee. The Employer-designated representative shall give the Union the Employer's Step 2 answer in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of such Step 2 grievance. A grievance not resolved in Step 2 may be appealed to Step 3 within fifteen (15) calendar days following the Employer-designated representative's final Step 2 answer. Any grievance not appealed in writing to Step 3 by the Union within fifteen (15) calendar days shall be considered waived.

Step 3. If appealed, the written grievance shall be presented by the Union and discussed with the Employer-designated Step 3 representative, which is currently the City Council. The Employer-designated representative shall give the Union the Employer's Step 3 answer in writing within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of such Step 3 grievance. A grievance not resolved in Step 3 may be appealed to Step 4 within fifteen (15) calendar days following the Employer-designated representative's final Step 3 answer. Any grievance not appealed in writing to Step 4 by the Union within fifteen (15) calendar days shall be considered waived.

Step 4. A grievance unresolved in Step 3 and appealed to Step 4 by the Union shall be submitted to arbitration subject to the provisions of the Public Employment Labor Relations Act of 1971, as amended. The selection of an arbitrator shall be made in accordance with applicable Minnesota Rules as established by the Minnesota Bureau of Mediation Services. The selection may be made from an arbitrator list available from the Bureau of Mediation Services.

The Employer and the Union may agree to submit the grievance to voluntary grievance mediation at any time after Step 1 and prior to submitting the grievance to the next step. The agreement to mediate must occur within the time limit for submitting the grievance to the next step but the time limit shall thereafter be tolled as agreed by the Employer and the Union. If either party notifies the other party in writing that mediation has failed, the grievance will return to the step in the grievance process which was pending at the time mediation was commenced and the grievance may be appealed to the next step within fifteen (15) calendar days following the date of such written notice.

13.4 <u>Arbitrator's Authority</u>. The arbitrator shall have shall have no authority to amend, modify, nullify, ignore, add to or subtract from the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall consider and decide only the specific issue(s) submitted in writing by the Employer and the Union, and shall have no authority to make a decision on any other issue not so submitted.

The arbitrator shall be without power to make decisions contrary to, or inconsistent with, or modifying or varying in any way the application of laws, rules or regulations having the force or effect of law. The arbitrator's decisions shall be submitted in writing within thirty (30) days following close of the hearing or the submission of briefs by the parties, whichever be later, unless the parties agree to an extension. The decision shall be binding on both the Employer and the Union and shall be based solely on the arbitrator's interpretation or application of the express terms of this Agreement and to the facts of the grievance presented.

The fees and expenses for the arbitrator's services and proceedings shall be borne equally by the Employer and the Union, provided that each party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceedings, it may cause such a record to be made, provided it pays for the record. If both parties desire a verbatim record of the proceedings, the cost shall be shared equally.

ARTICLE 14 – VACATION

14.1. <u>Vacation Accrual Schedule.</u> Eligible employees shall accrue vacation time according to the following schedule:

Years of	Hours Earned for	Hours Per
Continuous	Each Compensated	Year at
Service	Hour of Service	<u>2080 Hours</u>
0 through 3	.0384615	80
Beginning 4 – 5	.0576923	120
Beginning 6 - 10	.0769230	160
Beginning 11	.0807692	168
Beginning 12	.0826923	172
Beginning 13	.0846153	176
Beginning 14	.0865384	180
Beginning 15	.0884615	184
Beginning 16	.0903846	188
Beginning 17	.0923076	192
Beginning 18	.0942307	196
Beginning 19	.0961538	200

Full-time and part-time non-seasonal employees are eligible to earn vacation time. Employees may earn vacation hours on a maximum of 2080 compensable hours per year. An employee who changes status and becomes eligible for vacation as a full-time or part-time employee during the calendar year shall begin to accrue vacation from the date the employee's status change is approved.

- 14.2 <u>Use of Vacation Time</u>. Vacation time is available to eligible employees to provide opportunities for rest, relaxation, and personal pursuits. All vacation time shall be at the employee's straight time rate of pay. Vacation time may be used in one (1) hour increments. For absences due to illness or injury, the employee shall first use their sick leave accrual balance and then may use their vacation time accrual balance.
- 14.3 <u>Vacation Planning.</u> Vacation time for foreseeable situations is to be scheduled in advance with the approval of the Department Head. Vacation requests will normally be granted for the period preferred by the employee to the extent reasonably possible, but the Department

Head may deny a vacation request if, in the Department Head's judgment, to grant the request would interfere with the operation and needs of the City.

14.4 <u>Vacation Time Accumulation</u>. An employee may accumulate vacation time to the employee's maximum vacation accrual per year; provided, however, that at the end of each calendar year all unused vacation hours shall be cashed out, except that the employee may elect to carry over to the next calendar year up to forty (40) hours of unused vacation time for use during the next calendar year. The forty (40) hours is non-cumulative and is the maximum carry over allowed per calendar year.

ARTICLE 15 – SICK LEAVE

15.1 <u>Sick Leave Accrual.</u> Employees who are eligible to accrue vacation time shall also accrue hours to the employee's sick leave according to the following schedule:

Years of	Hours Earned For	Hours Per
<u>Continuous</u>	Each Compensated	Year at
Service	Hour of Service	<u> 2080 Hours</u>
0 through 3	.0192307	40
After 3	.0307692	64

- 15.2 <u>Sick Leave for Illness or Injury.</u> Eligible employees may use accumulated sick leave hours for absences due to a serious health condition (i.e. illness or injury) of the employee or of the employee's spouse, dependent children or parents where the employee's presence is medically necessary. When sick leave for an illness or injury is necessary, the Department Head shall be notified by the employee as soon as possible, not later than one hour before the employee's scheduled start time. Sick leave shall include doctor, dentist and chiropractic appointments. The Employer reserves the right to require a physician's certification for the use of sick leave where the employee's absence has not been scheduled and approved in advance by the Department Head or there is a concern about the necessity for the absence. The physician's certification is to be obtained at the employee's expense.
- 15.3 Sick Leave Accumulation. In the event that an employee has accumulated any unused sick leave in any one calendar year, the employee may elect to carry over and accumulate such sick leave hours for future use. If an employee has already accumulated in the accumulated reserve three hundred twenty (320) sick leave hours, he or she shall cash out his or her surplus accumulated sick leave hours at the end of the calendar year. Any proceeds from a cash out of accumulated sick leave under this paragraph shall equal seventy-five percent (75%) of the amount of employee's unused sick leave and shall be paid into a tax qualified health care savings plan (HCSP) to be established by agreement of the City and the employees to aid the employee in meeting post retirement medical needs. In transitioning from EIB to sick leave, all employees who, as of January 1, 2010, have more than 320 hours in their EIB accounts will cash out any excess over 320 hours at 75% of their accumulated hours at their current rate of pay into the above described tax qualified health care savings plan (HCSP) to be established.

- 15.4 <u>Worker's Compensation.</u> An employee who is off work due to a work-related injury compensable under the Minnesota Workers Compensation Act may use sick leave hours to supplement the employee's worker's compensation weekly wage loss benefits provided that the total of worker's compensation benefits plus sick leave hours does not exceed the employee's normal net pay.
- 15.5 <u>Sick Leave Donation</u>. In the event that an employee has exhausted their own sick leave accrual balance due to a life threatening disease or condition relating to themselves or a child, spouse, mother, father, mother-in-law, or father-in-law, other employees may choose to donate up to ten (10) working days of their sick leave accrual balance and/or vacation time accrual balance for use by the affected employee. This will result in a reduction to the sick leave and/or vacation leave accrual balance of the donating employee. The equivalent hours used by the affected employee will be paid at the same rate of pay as the affected employee. The choice to donate sick leave and/or vacation leave will be voluntary.

ARTICLE 16 - INSURANCE BENEFITS

Medical and Dental. The Employer shall provide a policy of health and hospitalization insurance and a policy of dental insurance with such provider as mutually agreed upon by the parties during the term of this Agreement. For eligible employees, effective January 1, 2016, the Employer will pay toward the monthly premium for single coverage for medical and dental insurance a maximum of \$625.00, plus up to \$100 to exclusively cover any increase in medical insurance premiums and not contributions to the dental plan or healthcare savings account (HSA) during the term of this Agreement, and the Employer will pay toward the monthly premium for family dependent coverage for medical and dental insurance a maximum of \$1,350.00, plus up to \$100 to exclusively cover any increase in medical insurance premiums and not contributions to the dental plan or healthcare savings account (HSA) during the term of this Agreement. Changes in the above-described Employer contributions will occur on January 1 of each contract year to reflect the premium changes which occurred in October of the previous contract year.

To be eligible for Employer payment toward medical and dental insurance benefits, an employee must have full-time status or work in a part-time position which is normally budgeted to work and does work twenty (20) or more hours per week and is employed on a non-seasonal basis. Premium payment eligibility commences the first of the month following date of hire for eligible employees. For eligible part-time non-seasonal employees, the premium payment is prorated according to the number of hours worked in the immediate preceding calendar year.

16.2 <u>Declined Coverage</u>. Current employees have the right to decline coverage and receive a direct cash payment in lieu of this benefit and shall continue to have such right; provided however, that the Employer shall not provide direct cash payment to employees in lieu of this benefit to any new employee hired after January 1, 2010. An eligible employee who declines medical and dental insurance coverage through the City shall be paid an amount equal to the Employer's monthly premium contribution to single coverage for which the employee would be eligible if the employee had not declined coverage.

16.3 Employer's Obligation Limited. The Employer's obligation under this Article 16 is limited to contracting for policy of group insurance and payment of the amount of premium specified. The Employer has no liability for the failure or the refusal of the insurance carrier to honor an employee's claim or to pay benefits and no such action on the part of the insurance carrier shall be attributable to the Employer or constitute a breach of this Agreement by the Employer. Under no circumstances shall the Employer be responsible for paying for any benefits under this Article 16. No dispute arising or relating to this Section 16.3 shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement except an allegation that the Employer has failed to pay the premium required by this Article 16.

ARTICLE 17 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE

- 17.1 Jury Duty. An employee shall be granted a leave of absence for service on a jury, and shall be compensated the difference between the employee's regular pay and that received for jury duty so long as the employee, after reporting for jury duty and subsequently being excused from such duty, returns at once to their regular work. Failure to report back to work shall result in a loss of pay for the period. The employee shall notify the Department Head as soon as the employee is notified that the employee will be serving jury duty and the employee shall provide documentation, upon request of the Employer, verifying jury duty performed.
- 17.2 <u>Unpaid Leave</u>. An employee may request an unpaid leave of absence for personal reasons. Such request must be made in writing to the employee's Department Head and shall be subject to approval of the City Council. An unpaid leave of absence for personal reasons may not be less than one calendar day nor exceed ninety (90) consecutive calendar days. Employees will not earn or accumulate benefits or other compensation while on an unpaid leave.
- 17.3 <u>Family and Medical Leave</u>. Employees shall be entitled to apply for Family and Medical Leave in accordance with the City's Family and Medical Leave Policy.
- 17.4 Bereavement Leave. Full-time employees shall be permitted bereavement leave on the death of a spouse, child, step-child, father, mother, step parent, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparent or grandchild. Such leave shall not exceed three (3) consecutive work days, if necessary, with pay, one day of which shall be the day of the funeral. Full-time employees shall also be permitted to take one (1) day using their accumulated sick time to attend the funeral of the employee's aunt, uncle, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, spousal grandchildren or spousal grandparents.
- 17.5 <u>Military Leave</u>. Employees shall be entitled to apply for military leave in accordance with the City's Military Leave Policy in the Personnel Manual.

ARTICLE 18 – SEVERANCE

18.1 <u>Eligibility</u>. Employees with accumulated, unused sick leave hours shall be eligible for severance pay under the following conditions:

- a. The employee retires voluntarily in good standing after giving at least two (2) weeks notice to the City;
- b. At the time of retirement from the City the employee is eligible to receive monthly retirement benefits under the provisions of PERA; and
- c. The employee has at least twenty (20) years of service with the City.
- 18.2 Severance Pay. Severance pay shall equal one hundred percent (100%) of the amount of the employee's accumulated, unused sick leave hours on the date of retirement. Any severance pay shall be paid into the tax qualified health care savings plan (HCSP) to be established by agreement of the Employer and employees pursuant to paragraph 15.3 to aid the employee in meeting post retirement medical needs. In the event of the death of an employee who, at the time of death, is otherwise eligible to receive severance pay, but remains an employee of the City and has not given notice of voluntary retirement, the amount of severance pay will be paid to the employee's estate.

ARTICLE 19 – SAFETY

- 19.1 <u>Safety Responsibility</u>. The Employer and all employees shall cooperate in the enforcement of all applicable regulations for the enforcement of job safety. If an employee feels that his/her work duties or responsibilities require such employee to be in a situation that violates federal and state safety standards, the employee shall immediately notify the Employer and the Employer shall immediately consider the matter. If such matter is not satisfactorily adjusted, it may become the subject of a grievance and will be processed in accordance with grievance procedure set forth herein.
- 19.2 <u>Safety Incentive/Award Program.</u> All employees shall participate in the Safety Award Program under terms established by the Employer.

ARTICLE 20 - COMPLETE AGREEMENT, SEPARABILITY

- 20.1 <u>Complete Agreement.</u> This Agreement shall represent the complete Agreement between the Union and the Employer.
- Waiver of Bargaining. The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make requests and proposals with respect to any subject matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the complete understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after exercise of said right and opportunity to negotiate are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Employer and the Union, for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered by this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement, unless they mutually agree to so bargain.

- 20.3 <u>New Classifications.</u> Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article, in the event that the Employer during the term of this Agreement creates a new classification within the bargaining unit, the Employer agrees to enter into negotiation with the Union solely for the purpose of establishing a wage rate for such classification.
- 20.4 <u>Separability.</u> This Agreement is subject to the laws of the United States and the State of Minnesota. In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction from whose final judgment or decree no appeal has been taken within the time provided, such provisions shall be voided. All other provisions shall continue in full force and effect. The voided provisions may be renegotiated at the written request of either party. All other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 21 – ALLOWANCES

- 21.1 <u>Meals, Mileage and Lodging.</u> Employees shall be reimbursed for the reasonable cost of meal, mileage and lodging expenses necessarily incurred during approved City travel in accordance with the City Personnel Manual.
- 21.2 <u>Prescription and Safety Glasses.</u> The Employer will pay up to \$200 annually for prescription safety lenses and frames for employees required by OSHA regulations to wear prescription safety lenses while performing their work functions. The employee is responsible for all other costs associated with the prescription, including eye examination.

The Employer will provide non-prescription safety glasses for employees required by OSHA regulations to wear same in performing their work functions.

21.3 <u>Safety Boots.</u> The Employer shall pay up to \$200 annually for safety boots to each employee required by OSHA regulations to wear safety boots in performing their work functions. New employees shall be eligible for this benefit upon completion of their probationary period.

ARTICLE 22 - WAGES

22.1 The range of annual pay rates for the positions set forth on the pay plan attached hereto as Exhibit A shall be paid to all employees incumbent in the various positions commencing January 1, 2016 and continuing through December 31, 2018. The placement of the current employees within the range of annual pay rates for each position to be effective January 1, 2016 shall be as set forth on the schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B. Exhibit B annual pay rates for individual employees represents an increase of \$.70 per hour per year, which converts to a three percent (3%) average increase for the bargaining unit employees over such period. Any new employee hired in any existing position or newly-created position between January 1, 2016 and December 31, 2018 shall be placed within the range of monthly pay rates for the applicable position based on the new employee's relevant knowledge, training and experience. In addition, new employees will receive the above-referenced \$.70 per hour per year increase. The criteria for any knowledge

and performance increases for any individual employees during the term of this Agreement shall be as attached hereto in Exhibit A. Any adjustments to the current annual pay rates for individual employees shall be recommended by the supervisors and the Personnel Committee and approved by the City Council. Any employees who are at the top of, or beyond, the maximum of the range of annual pay rates for the individual position, shall not have their annual pay rate reduced to that maximum annual pay rate and instead shall receive the annual pay rate.

22.2 All full-time employees who have attained the following specified number of years of continuous employment with the City will receive the following specified longevity pay per hour for all hours worked and paid effective after the completion of the specified number of years of continuous employment:

Years of Continuous Employment	Longevity Pay per Hour
10 to 14 years	\$.05
15 to 19 years	\$.10
20 to 24 years	\$.15
over 25 years	\$.20

22.3 All full-time employees shall have the right during the term of this Agreement to participate in a mutually agreed upon tax qualified deferred compensation plan and elect to make contributions to such plan. The Employer shall make a matching contribution of up to three percent (3%) of the employee's annual pay each year to such plan.

ARTICLE 23 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2018, and shall be annually renewed thereafter unless either party notifies the other in writing that it desires to modify or terminate this Agreement, said notice to be received by the other party not later than September 1 of the year of expiration. Provided, however, that either party may by giving a thirty (30) day notice to the other party prior to December 31, 2016 reopen negotiations between the parties under this Agreement for the sole purpose of considering but not requiring agreement regarding any change in insurance carrier for medical insurance, dental insurance, healthcare savings account (HSA), healthcare savings plan (HCSP), and related benefits.

In witness thereof, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed this 25th day of August, 2015.

UNION:

AFSCME COUNCIL 65

EMPLOYER:

CITY OF COHASSET

Its: Mayor

By: Dove dashamb Its: union Steward

Its: LUNION STEWARD

By: City Clerk

Salary Range

47,000.00 \$ 58,500.00 Deputy City Clerk Treasurer

Step Value:

\$ 7,000.00

Step Criteria:

Performance

Minimum average review score 4 of 5

Certification

MCMC MMMC

Experience

Must demonstrate superior execution of job responsibilities with minimal supervision.

Deputy City Clerk

40,000.00 \$ 47,000.00

Step Value:

\$ 7,000.00

Step Criteria:

Performance

Minimum average review score 4 of 5

Certification

MCMC

Experience

Must demonstrate superior execution of job responsibilities with minimal supervision.

Zoning Officer

40,000.00 \$ 55,000.00

Step Value:

\$ 7,000.00

Step Criteria:

Performance

Minimum average review score 4 of 5

Certification

Experience

Must demonstrate superior execution of job responsibilities with minimal supervision.

Senior Public Works/Utilities Worker

49,000.00 \$ 55,000.00

Step Value:

\$3,000

Step Criteria:

Performance

Minimum average review score 4 of 5

Certification

Experience

Must demonstrate superior execution of job responsibilities with minimal supervision.

Public Works/Utilities Worker \$ 40,000.00 \$ 49,000.00

Step Value: \$3,000

Step Criteria:

Performance Minimum average review score 4 of S

Certification Water Sewer Natural Gas Road Maintenance

Experience Must demonstrate superior execution of job responsibilities with minimal supervision.

Parks and Recreation Coordinator \$ 40,000.00 \$ 49,000.00

Step Value: \$3,000

Step Criteria:

Performance Minimum average review score 4 of 5

Certification

Experience Must demonstrate superior execution of job responsibilities with minimal supervision.

If no other wage increases occur, then the individual wages will be as follows.

0045			HOURLY	0040											
2015 \$53,040	\$ 25.5000	Hillman	0.7	2016 \$54,496	\$26.2000	LONGEVITY 0.15	\$26,3500	ANNIVERSARY DATE 5/6/1996	2020	\$0.15	Bernie	Reg 26.3500	Overtime 39.5250	Standby 30.1000	Standby OT 45.1500
\$59,670	\$ 28.6875	LaShomb	0.7	\$61,126	\$ 2 9.387 5	0.10	\$29.4875	1/3/2000	2019	\$0.15	Dorio	29.4875	44.2313	33.2375	49.8563
\$47,940	\$ 23.0481	Mostor	0.7	\$49,396	\$23.7481	•	\$23.7481	9/13/2012	2021	\$0.05	Karen	23.7481	35.6221	27.49 81	41.2471
\$20,400	\$ 19.6154	O'Fallon	0.7	\$21,128	\$20,3154	•	\$20.3154	2/10/2009	2018	\$0.05	Dave	20.3154	30.4731	24.0654	36.0981
\$43,860	\$ 21.0865	Payne	0.7	\$48,316	\$23,2288	-	\$23.2288	3/31/2014	2023	\$0.05	Temper	23.2288	34.8433	26.9788	40.4683
\$40,800	\$ 19.6154	Pellersels	0.7	\$43,756	\$21.0365	0.15	\$21.1865	3/19/1992	2016	\$0.20	Art	21.1865	31,7798	24.9365	37.4048
\$40,800	\$ 19.6154	Perrington	0.7	\$42,256	\$20.3154	-	\$20.3154	4/7/2014	2023	\$0.05	Joss	20.3154	30.4731	24.0654	36.0981
\$56,100	\$ 26.9712	Tuttie	0.7	\$57,556	\$27.6712	0.15	\$27,8212	2/20/1995	2019	\$0.20	Greg	27.8212	41.7317	31.5712	47.3567

^{*}Art Pollorsols will receive a \$1500.00 one time annual increase as reflected in this exhibit B based on the approval of an addendum added to his job description.

[&]quot;Jesse Perrington will receive a \$3000.00 one time annual increase not yet reflected in this oxhibit B when he obtains both his water and sewer licenses.

2016 \$54,496 \$ 2	26.2000	Hillman	HOURLY INCREASE 0.7	2017 \$55.952	\$26.9000	LONGEVITY 0.15	\$27.0500	ANNIVERSARY DATE 5/6/1996	2020	\$0.15	Bernie	Reg 27.0500	Overtime 40.5750	Standby 30.8000	Standby OT 46.2000
\$61,126 \$ 2	29.3875	LaShomb	0.7	\$62,582	\$30.0875	0.10	\$30 1875	1/3/2000	2019	\$0.15	Dorie	30,1875	45.2813	33,9375	50.9063
\$49,396 \$ 2	23.7481	Mester	0.7	\$50,852	\$24,4481	-	\$24,4481	9/13/2012	2021	\$0.05	Karen	24,4481	36.6721	28.1981	42.2971
\$21,128 \$ 2	20.3154	O'Fallon	0.7	\$21,856	\$21.0154	-	\$21.0154	2/10/2009	2018	\$0.05	Dave	21.0154	31.5231	24.7654	37.1481
\$48,316 \$ 2	23.2288	Payno	0.7	\$49,772	\$23.9288	-	\$23.9288	3/31/2014	2023	\$0.05	Temper	23.9288	35.8933	27. 6 788	41.5183
\$43,756 \$ 2	21.0365	Pollorsels	0.7	\$45,212	\$21,7365	0.20	\$21.9365	3/19/1992			Art	21.9365	32.9048	25.6865	38.5298
\$42,256 \$ 2	20.3154	Perrington	0.7	\$43,712	\$21.0154	-	\$21.0154	4/7/2014	2023	\$0.05	Jess	21.0154	31.5231	24.7654	37.1481
\$57,556 \$ 2	27.6712	Tuttle	0.7	\$59,012	\$28.3712	0.15	\$28.5212	2/20/1995	2019	\$0.20	Greg	28.5212	42.7817	32.2712	48.4067
2017 \$55,952 \$ 2	26.9000	Hillman	HOURLY INCREASE 0.7	2018 \$57,408	\$27.6000	LONGEVITY 0.15	\$27.7500	ANNIVERSARY DATE 5/6/1996	2020	\$0.15	Bernie	Reg 27.7500	Ovortime 41.6250	Standby 31.5000	Standby OT 47.2500
		Hiliman LaShomb	INCREASE	\$57,408	\$27.6000 \$30.7875	0.15	\$27.7500 \$30.8875		2020 2019	\$0.15 \$0.15	Bernie Dorie				
\$55,952 \$ 2	30.0875		INCREASE 0.7	\$57,408 \$64,038		0.15		5/6/1996				27.7500	41.6250	31.5000	47.2500
\$55,952 \$ 2 \$62,582 \$ 3	30.0875 24.4481	LaShomb	0.7 0.7	\$57,408 \$64,038 \$52,308	\$30.7875	0.15	\$30.8875	5/6/1996 1/3/2000	2019	\$0.15	Dorie	27.7500 30.8875	41.6250 46.3313	31.5000 34.6375	47.2500 51.9563
\$55,952 \$ 2 \$62,582 \$ 3 \$50,852 \$ 2	30.0875 24.4481 21.0154	LaShomb Moster	0.7 0.7 0.7	\$57,408 \$64,038 \$52,308 \$22,584	\$30.7875 \$25.14 8 1	0.15 0.10	\$30.8875 \$25.1481	5/6/1996 1/3/2000 9/13/2012	2019 2021	\$0.15 \$0.05	Dorie Karon	27.7500 30.8875 25.1481	41.6250 46.3313 37.7221	31.5000 34.6375 28.8981	47.2500 51.9563 43.3471
\$55,952 \$ 2 \$62,582 \$ 3 \$50,852 \$ 2 \$21,856 \$ 2	30.0875 24.4481 21.0154 23.9288	LaShomb Moster O'Fallon	0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7	\$57,408 \$64,038 \$52,308 \$22,584 \$51,228	\$30.7875 \$25.1481 \$21.7154	0.15 0.10 - -	\$30.8875 \$25.1481 \$21.7154	5/6/1996 1/3/2000 9/13/2012 2/10/2009	2019 2021 2018	\$0.15 \$0.05 \$0.05	Dorie Karon Dave	27.7500 30.8875 25.1481 21.7154	41.6250 46.3313 37.7221 32.5731	31.5000 34.6375 28.8981 25.4654	47.2500 51.9563 43.3471 38.1981
\$55,952 \$2 \$62,582 \$3 \$50,852 \$2 \$21,856 \$2 \$49,772 \$2	30.0875 24.4481 21.0154 23.9288 21.7365	LaShomb Mostor O'Fallon Payne	0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7	\$57,408 \$64,038 \$52,308 \$22,584 \$51,228 \$46,668	\$30.7875 \$25.1481 \$21.7154 \$24.6288	0.15 0.10 - -	\$30.8875 \$25.1481 \$21.7154 \$24.6288	5/6/1996 1/3/2000 9/13/2012 2/10/2009 3/31/2014	2019 2021 2018	\$0.15 \$0.05 \$0.05	Dorie Karon Dave Tomper	27.7500 30.8875 25.1481 21.7154 24.6288	41.6250 46.3313 37.7221 32.5731 36.9433	31.5000 34.6375 28.8981 25.4654 28.3788	47.2500 51.9563 43.3471 38.1981 42.5683